
Meeting Accessibility Services and Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Notice:  City Hall Annex is accessible to persons with disabilities. 
A request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or for other accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at least 48 
hours before the meeting to the Planning Coordinator 503-864-2221 ext. 517 or rvargas@daytonoregon.gov. Page 1 of 2 

 
 AGENDA 

DAYTON PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

DATE:     THURSDAY, MARCH 14, 2024     
TIME:      6:30 PM 
PLACE:    DAYTON CITY HALL ANNEX – 408 FERRY STREET, DAYTON, OREGON 
VIRTUAL: ZOOM MEETING – ORS 192.670/HB 2560 
 

You may join the Planning Commission Meeting online via Zoom at: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/84042533209  
   

Dayton – Rich in History . . . Envisioning Our Future 

ITEM     DESCRIPTION                                                                                                             PAGE # 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
B. APPROVAL OF ORDER OF AGENDA 
C. APPEARANCE OF INTERESTED CITIZENS 

The public is strongly encouraged to relay concerns and comments to the Commission of any other 
topic in one of the following ways: 

• Email - at any time up to 5 pm the day of the meeting to rvargas@daytonoregon.gov . The Chair 
will read the comments emailed to the Planning Coordinator. 

• Appear in person – If you would like to speak during public comment, please sign up on the sign-in 
sheet located on the table when you enter the City Hall Annex.  

• Appear by Telephone only – please sign up prior to the meeting by emailing the Planning 
Coordinator at rvargas@daytonoregon.gov the chat function is not available when calling by 
phone into Zoom. 

• Appear Virtually via Zoom - once in the meeting send a chat directly to the Planning Coordinator 
Rocio Vargas, use the raise hand feature in Zoom to request to speak during public comment, you 
must give the Planning Coordinator your First and Last Name, Address and Contact 
Information (email or phone number) before you are allowed to speak.  
 

When it is your turn, the Chair will announce your name and unmute your mic.  
 

D. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
1. November 9, 2023        1-2 
2. December 14, 2023        3-7 

 
E. PUBLIC HEARING 

Zone Change Request ZC 2023-06 - to consider a zoning map   9-16 
amendment to change the subject property from Commercial  
Residential (CR) to Commercial (C) zoning designation. – Staff Report 

Exhibit A. Proposed Map Amendment     17 
Exhibit B. Applicant’s Submittal      18-52 
Exhibit C. Engineering Comments      53-70 
Exhibit D. Case File 03-01 enacting CR Zoning District   71-78 

mailto:rvargas@daytonoregon.gov
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/84042533209
mailto:rvargas@daytonoregon.gov
mailto:rvargas@daytonoregon.gov


 

Meeting Accessibility Services and Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Notice:  City Hall Annex is accessible to persons with disabilities. A 
request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or for other accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at least 48 
hours before the meeting to the Planning Coordinator 503-864-2221 or rvargas@daytonoregon.gov.     Page 2 of 2 

 

F. OTHER BUSINESS 
1. Informational Item 

i. Preliminary Schedule for the Housing Comprehensive Plan  79-81 
G. ADJOURN                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              
 
Posted:        
By:  Rocio Vargas, City Recorder/Planning Coordinator 
 

NEXT MEETING DATE 
Planning Commission Meeting Thursday, April 11, 2024 (if needed)  
Planning Commission Meeting Thursday, May 9, 2024 (if needed) 

 
Virtually via Zoom and in Person, City Hall Annex, 408 Ferry Street, Dayton, Oregon 

 
 
 
 

mailto:rvargas@daytonoregon.gov


Planning Commission Mee�ng November 9, 2023, Page 1 of 2 
 

Minutes 
Dayton Planning Commission  

November 9, 2023 

Dayton Commissioners Present:  Ann-Marie Anderson 
     Rob Hallyburton 
     Tim Parsons 
     Dave Mackin 

Dayton Commissioners Absent: Kate Weber Van Genderen 

Dayton Staff Present:   Curt Fisher, City Planner 
     Rocio Vargas, City Recorder/Planning Coordinator 

A. CALL TO ORDER 
Dayton Planning Commission Chair Ann-Marie Anderson called the meeting to order at 
6:30pm. 

B. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
Agenda was approved. 

C. APPEARANCE OF INTERESTED CITIZENS 
There were none. 

D. PUBLIC HEARING 
Chairperson Anderson opened the Public Hearing at 6:31pm for the HIST 2023-03 
Demolition Request of the “Dayton Common School” located at 508 4th Street, in Dayton’s 
Commercial Residential (CR) zoning district and Historical Property Overlay Zone (HPO). 
Chairperson Anderson read the read the introductory script into the record and asked if there 
were any declarations of ex-parte contact or objection to the notice provided for this hearing, 
or to any members of the Commission that were participating in the hearing. 
 
Commissioners declared that they have passed or driven by the building in question. 
 
Chairperson Anderson turned the meeting over to City Planner Curt Fisher to present the 
staff report. 
 
City Planner Fisher presented the application and the exhibits for the request to remove the 
schoolhouse building, as well as the recommendation from the Dayton Historic Preservation 
Committee. 
Chairperson Anderson opened the meeting up to the public for comment asking if there was 
anyone present in favor or against. 
 
Steve Scott, Portland, representing Twin Towers, spoke in favor of the removal of the 
building. 
 
There being no more questions, Chairperson Anderson closed the Public Hearing at 6:40pm 
 

Rob Hallyburton moved to adopt the findings on the staff report and 
approve the HIST 2023-03 Demolition. Seconded by Tim Parsons. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

1



Planning Commission Mee�ng November 9, 2023, Page 2 of 2 

E. OTHER BUSINESS
Next meeting will be December 14th, 2023.

F. ADJOURN
There being no further business the meeting was adjourned at 6:44pm.

Respectfully submitted: 
APPROVED BY COMMISSION, March 14, 2024 
□ As Written □ As Amended

By: Rocio Vargas 
City Recorder 

_________________________________________ 
Ann-Marie Anderson, Planning Commission Chair 

2



Dayton Planning Commission Mee�ng Minutes, December 14, 2023 

pg. 1 

MINUTES 
DAYTON PLANNING COMMISSION 

DECEMBER 14, 2023 

Dayton Commissioners Present: Ann-Marie Anderson, Chairperson 
Rob Hallyburton, Vice-Chairperson 
Tim Parsons 
Dave Mackin 
Kate Weber Van Genderen 

Dayton Commissioners Absent: 

Dayton Staff Present:  Curt Fisher, City Planner 
Rocio Vargas, City Recorder/Planning Coordinator 
Dave Rucklos, Tourism and Economic Development Director 

A. CALL TO ORDER

Dayton Planning Commission Chair Ann-Marie Anderson called the meeting to order at
6:30pm.

B. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Agenda was approved.

C. APPEARANCE OF INTERESTED CITIZENS

There were none.

D. PUBLIC HEARING

Chairperson Anderson opened the public hearing at 6:33pm for the text amendments to
Chapter 7.2.111 of the Dayton Land Used Code to add design standards for new
development in the Central Business Area Overlay District (CBO).

Chairperson Anderson invited Curt Fisher, City Planner, to give the staff report.

Curt Fisher, City Planner presented the staff report. He read public comments that were sent
via email from Twin Towers LLC. The first inquiry was to clarify the proposed Bonus Building
Height and the conditional habitable space usage requirements above 55 feet. Does this
require all the conditional habitable space above 55 feet to be overnight accommodation? Or
can it include mixed uses, for example: bar, restaurant, or spa above 55 if overnight
accommodations are provided above the ground floor?

City Planner stated that there isn’t a limit to the accommodation that can qualify for the
bonus.

3



Dayton Planning Commission Mee�ng Minutes, December 14, 2023 

pg. 2 

The second public comment from Twin Towers LLC was an inquiry about the mechanical 
infrastructure being omitted from the height limitations, and can it exceed 65 feet? 

City Planner stated that good point to discuss and provided an example from the City of 
Gresham that does include projections above maximum building height. 

Public Testimony 

Steve Scott, 9235 NW Hopedale, Portland, OR. Stated his questions that were submitted via 
email. He asked for clarification on the Gresham example if there was additional height 
allowed for mechanisms. He stated that he didn’t have any additional testimony at this time.  

Commissioner Rob Hallyburton, Vice-Chairperson, inquired Mr. Scott if he was asking to 
exceed the 65 feet limit or just wanted to know if it could be done.  

Mr. Scott stated that there are intensions to develop a flagship hotel by Twin Towers LLC that 
will a be viable investment and a benefit to the community. He stated that sizing is important 
and understanding the code to maximize potential is important. 

Judy Gerard, 305 Main Street, spoke in favor of the information presented in the staff report 
from the TAC Advisory Committee. She thanked the commission for honoring the work that 
was done to create the Business Area Overlay amendments.  

City Planner stated that he didn’t have anything else to add. He clarified that the amendment 
recommendations do not address the projections addressed for the mechanical being over 
the 65 feet height limit.  

Vice-Chairperson Hallyburton inquired if there is a section that addresses height limitations in 
all zones.  

City Planner stated that there is not. 

Commissioner Dave Mackin inquired how much height mechanical infrastructure would add 
to the 65 feet. 

City Planner stated that it could add 7-8 feet in height depending on the height of the elevator 
shaft and the HVAC system.  

Commissioner Mackin clarified that this mechanism would only take up the space it needs 
and not the whole rooftop.  

City Planner agreed and stated that if the language to include the height projection above the 
65 feet was added he recommends adding language to make the equipment hidden or 
screened form view. 

Steve Scott, commented in favor of allowing mechanical projections above the 65 feet height 
limit. 

4



Dayton Planning Commission Mee�ng Minutes, December 14, 2023 

pg. 3 

There being no further public comment Chairperson Anderson closed the public hearing at 
7:05pm. Chairperson Anderson opened the floor for discussion of the Planning Commission. 

Commissioner Mackin stated that there would have to be an allowance for buildings to have 
extra height for the mechanical infrastructure. He stated that to have a building of 65 feet it 
would need a mechanism for people to be able to reach that height. 

Commissioner Katelyn Weber Van Genderen agreed with Commissioner Mackin. She stated 
that this could also benefit Historical Buildings. She inquired if the Historic Standards would 
apply to the new construction within the Historic Zone. 

City Planner stated that Historic Zone Standards would not apply to the new construction 
because it is an overlay, but there are new design standards that need to be followed to 
make sure the new development is compatible with the historic zone. 

Commissioner Weber Van Genderen inquired where the boundary, for the 10 feet setback, is 
established from, the sidewalk or from anything that is 35 feet in height must be setback 10 
feet from the boundary. 

City Planner stated that it is from the zone boundary line, because the street counts as the 
setback. He stated that the purpose is to avoid large scale commercial up against a lower 
density residential zone.  

Commissioner Weber Van Genderen inquired about the reasons that brought the additional 
height allowance for 3rd and Ferry.  

City Planner stated that it started with the design recommendations initially a 45 feet height 
limit with 55 feet bonus for the whole district. He stated that there was concern that it would 
not work for the entire district. He stated that it was analyzed that this standard wouldn’t work 
for several reasons that were cited. 

Commissioner Weber Van Genderen inquired if the height standard would apply only for the 
part facing Ferry Street or the entire block. 

City Planner stated that it would apply to the entire block. 

There was a discussion of the commercial and commercial residential zoning of the 3rd and 
Ferry block. 

Commissioner Weber Van Genderen inquired if the setbacks applied to the whole block or 
only to the part that is facing residential zone. 

City Planner stated that it would apply to the part facing the residential zone. 

Vice-Chairperson Hallyburton inquired if the setback is up to the street to the only residential 
zone, would the building be 65 feet all the way to the street. Stated that he thought it applied 
to both the street and residential zone. 

5



Dayton Planning Commission Mee�ng Minutes, December 14, 2023 

pg. 4 

City Planner stated that it is meant to accommodate the right of way, the street would create 
the buffer for the setback.  

There was a discussion on how the setback would apply to the height of the building. 

Commissioner Weber Van Genderen inquired if there was a minimum requirement for multi-
family unit or overnight stay accommodations necessary to qualify for a bonus height. 

City Planner stated if there is one unit that meets the requirement the building would qualify 
the building for the bonus height. 

Chairperson Anderson inquired if the language on what will be allowed on the bonus height in 
terms of multi-family units is clear enough. 

City Planner stated that the requirement is to ensure or encourage a minimum overnight 
accommodation or multi-family living if the building is other than a hotel and the intent is to 
qualify for the bonus height.   

Commissioner Weber Van Genderen inquired if the approval is still up to the discretion of the 
City Council and the Planning Commission based on the code. There isn’t anything else in 
the city code that requires multi-family living or overnight stay. 

City Planner stated that in the proposed code there is only a minimum requirement of one 
overnight unit above ground level to approve additional height. 

Vice-Chairperson Hallyburton stated that initially he believed 65 feet was tall enough but had 
not considered the mechanical infrastructure. 

There was a discussion on language for the height bonus and allowing the extra height for 
screened mechanical equipment, considering the standard building requirements and ADA 
requirements to have an elevator that will take all persons up to the top floor on the bonus 
height of 65 feet.  

Vice-Chairperson Hallyburton moved to adopt the staff report and 
recommend the City Council approve the amendments with 
additional language to include additional height above maximum 
building height for screened mechanical infrastructure. Seconded by 
Commissioner Mackin. Motion carried unanimously. 

E. OTHER BUSINESS
City Planner gave a report on projects that are being worked on that will be coming to the
commission.  He stated that a staff report and the proposed code amendments will be ready
seven days prior to the City Council meeting for the second Public Hearing.

F. ADJOURN
There being no further business the meeting was adjourned at 7:39 pm.

6



Dayton Planning Commission Mee�ng Minutes, December 14, 2023 

pg. 5 

Respectfully submitted: 

APPROVED BY COMMISSION, March 14, 2024 
□ As Written □ As Amended

By: Rocio Vargas 
City Recorder 

_________________________________________ 
Ann-Marie Anderson, Planning Commission Chair 

7



This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

8



ZC 2023-06 Staff Report Page 1 of 8 

STAFF REPORT 

ZC 2023-06 PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE PLANNING COMMISSION 

HEARING DATE: March 14, 2024 

FILE NUMBER: ZC 2023-06 

SUBJECT: Public Hearing to consider a zoning map amendment to change the subject 

property from the Commercial Residential (CR) to the Commercial (C) zoning 

designation.  

APPLICANT/ 

OWNERS:   Twin Towers, LLC 

SUBJECT  

PROPERTIES: North of Ferry Street: 

201 Ferry Street, Assessor’s Map 04S-03W-17DA Lot 3000 

205 Ferry Street, Assessor’s Map 04S-03W-17DA Lot 3101 

No address, Assessor’s Map 04S-03W-17DA Lot 3200 

South of Ferry Street: 

145 Ferry Street, Assessor’s Map 04S-03W-17DA Lot 5800 

204 Ferry Street. Assessor’s Map 04S-03W-17DA Lot 5900 

APPROVAL 

CRITERIA: Dayton Land Use Development Code, Section 7.3.111.03, A – E. 

EXHIBITS: A. Proposed Map Amendment

B. Applicant’s Submittal

C. Engineering Comments

D. Case File 03-01 enacting CR Zoning District

I. REQUESTED ACTION

A request to change the zoning of the subject property described above from the current Commercial 

Residential (CR) zoning designation to Commercial (C). The Applicant provided the map in Figure 1 to 

describe the request. The properties subject to the request are shown in gray in the Applicant’s exhibit: 

9



ZC 2023-06 Staff Report Page 2 of 8 

Figure 1: Applicant's Zoning Exhibit 

II. SITE DESCRIPTION

The request involves property on the north and south sides of Ferry Street between 2nd and 3rd Street. The 

entire area included in the request is within the Central Business Area Overlay (CBO) and borders the 

existing Commercial (C) district to the west.  

The area to the north of Ferry Street contains residential uses and is adjacent to residential uses to the north 

and east. The adjacent property to the west is within the existing Commercial district and is vacant. The 

Applicant received preliminary approval for a property line adjustment application to consolidate the lots 

on the north side of Ferry Street into a single lot extending from 2nd to 3rd Street.  

The area to the south of Ferry Street is vacant and contains two discrete lots. Adjacent areas to the south 

and east are developed with residential uses. Adjacent properties to the west are developed with commercial 

uses within the existing Commercial zoning district.  

The Commercial Residential zone was enacted in 2003 by City Case File 03-01 (Exhibit D). Prior to 2003, 

the subject properties were included in the Commercial zoning district. The proposed zone change request 

would return the area to the previous historic zoning designation.  

10



ZC 2023-06 Staff Report Page 3 of 8 

Figure 2: Aerial View of Subject Properties 

III. PROCESS

Section 7.3.111.01 of the DLUDC explains how zone changes shall be reviewed in accordance with the 

procedures for Type III review specified in Section 7.3.202.02. A Type III action is a quasi-judicial process 

in which the City Council applies a mix of objective and subjective standards. Staff and the Planning 

Commission have advisory roles. Type III reviews of zone changes are limited to applications affecting 5 

or fewer adjacent parcels or less than 10 acres of land. As previously discussed, with the Applicant’s 

approved lot consolidation, the request involves a total of 3 lots. Approval criteria for Zone Changes are 

found in Section 7.3.111.03. 

The application was received by the City on December 4, 2023. The Applicant was notified of items needed 

to complete the application on January 2, 2024. The Applicant submitted additional information on January 

10, 2024 to address the applicable review criteria. Written notice of the March 14, 2024 public hearing at 

Planning Commission and the April 1, 2024 hearing at City Council was mailed on February 7. On February 

11



ZC 2023-06 Staff Report Page 4 of 8 

8, 2024, staff submitted the required 35-day notice to the Department of Land Conservation and 

Development.  

IV. FINDINGS ADDRESSING APPROVAL CRITERIA

7.3.111.01 Process 

Zone changes shall be reviewed in accordance with the Type III review procedures specified in Section 

7.3.201. Type III reviews shall be limited to zone changes affecting 5 or fewer adjacent parcels ownerships 

or less than 10 acres of land. Zone changes affecting more than 5 adjacent parcels ownerships or more 

than 10 acres shall be considered legislative actions and subject to a Type IV review process. 

Findings: The Applicant’s preliminary submittal included title information on properties outside the 

boundaries of the application within the existing Commercial District. The Applicant has also received 

preliminary approval (PLA 23-07) to consolidate the lots to the north of Ferry Street into a single lot 

occupying the entire block between 2nd and 3rd Streets. The property to the south of Ferry Street includes 

two discrete lots – Lots 144 and 145 of the Dayton Town Plat. Therefore, with the anticipated recording of 

the approved lot consolidation, the proposal involves three lots under the same ownership consisting of less 

than 10 acres. The Type III process applies and a Type IV legislative Zone Change is not required.  

7.3.111.02 Application And Fee 

An application for a zone change shall be filed with the City and accompanied by the appropriate fee. It 

shall be the applicant's responsibility to submit a complete application which addresses the review criteria 

of this Section. Notice shall be subject to the provisions in Section 7.3.204. 

Findings: The application was received by the City on December 4, 2023. The Applicant was notified of 

items needed to complete the application on January 2, 2024. The Applicant submitted additional 

information on January 10, 2024. Written notice of the March 14, 2024 public hearing at Planning 

Commission and the anticipated April 1 hearing at City Council was mailed at least 20 days prior to the 

hearing date to the applicant and owners of property within 200 feet of the boundaries of the properties 

subject to the request. On February 8, 2024, staff issued the required 35-day notice to the Department of 

Land Conservation and Development.  

7.3.111.03 Criteria For Approval 

Zone change proposals shall be approved if the applicant provides evidence substantiating the following: 

A. The proposed zone is appropriate for the Comprehensive Plan land use designation on the property

and is consistent with the description and policies for the applicable Comprehensive Plan land use

classification.

Findings: The proposal involves changing the zoning of the subject area from one commercial zoning 

designation (Commercial Residential) to another commercial zoning designation (Commercial) on land 

designated for Commercial use in the Comprehensive Plan. The proposed Commercial zoning designation 

is appropriate for the Commercial land use designation. Chapter 8.5 of the Comprehensive Plan includes a 

number of economic policies related to commercial development. Staff extrapolated information relevant 

to Comprehensive Plan policies in Chapter 8.5 from the Applicant’s submitted written statement. Staff find 

the following policies applicable to the application: 

1. The City shall promote diversification of the City’s economy by designating sufficient lands for

commercial and industrial uses.

Findings: The area subject to the application is proposed to remain in the Commercial land use designation. 

Therefore, the proposal does not change the land available for Commercial use. Staff find this policy is 

satisfied. 

12



ZC 2023-06 Staff Report Page 5 of 8 

2. The City shall support and cooperate with appropriate regional, State and Federal agencies that

acknowledge and aid the special needs of rural communities for the purposes of improving the

economy of Dayton.

Findings: The proposal has no impact on the City efforts to support and cooperate with appropriate 

regional, State and Federal agencies. This policy does not appear to be relevant to this application. 

3. The City shall actively pursue measures and incentives to encourage the retention and expansion

of existing firms and attract new commercial and industrial businesses to locate in Dayton.

Findings: While not specifically directed in response to this policy, the Applicant included the following 

in their written statements addressed generally to the economic policies in Chapter 8.5 of the 

Comprehensive Plan: 

Twin Towers desires to change from Commercial Residential to Commercial because of the 

flexibility allowed in commercial zone development. A high-quality development aligns with the 

policies found in Section 8.5 of the Dayton Comprehensive Plan. The focus will be on hospitality-

based concepts including a flagship hotel. This will accomplish Dayton objectives, including but 

not limited to amplifying the central business district as the primary retail center of the of the 

community, provide a focal point for both residents and visitors and increase employment 

opportunities within the City’s downtown. As a hotel of this scale does not yet exist in the City of 

Dayton, it will diversify and improve the City’s economy. 

Staff incorporates the Applicant’s statement as evidence that the proposal can potentially encourage a new 

hospitality-oriented firm to locate in Dayton. This policy is satisfied.  

4. The City shall encourage, and establish regulations supporting, the location of wineries and

their attendant businesses in the community.

Findings: No specific development is proposed as part of the application. The Applicant’s written statement 

suggests that under Commercial zoning, the subject properties would be more attractive to wine attendant 

businesses, and cites some examples of how wine attendant business could be restricted under in the existing 

Commercial Residential zone: 

For example, if the parcels remain designated as Commercial Residential, a wine tasting room that 

retails wine would be a conditional use, or a rooftop bar would be excluded per the code. It would 

also require the project to apply for a Conditional Use Permit, which is not desired. 

Prior to 2003, the subject properties were zoned Commercial. The Commercial Residential was applied to 

the subject area in 2003. The stated purpose of the Commercial Residential zone is to provide areas for the 

development of a mixture of single family, multi-family, and manufactured homes, and limited retail and 

service commercial uses. Commercial uses that do not comply with the permitted uses in DLUDC 

7.2.105.02.B, such as taverns, bars, and similar establishments are allowed with a Conditional Use Permit, 

as are wineries with retail sales. While the regulations within the Commercial Residential zone do not 

specifically discourage or prohibit wineries and wine attendant business within the community, the primary 

stated purpose of the zone is to provide area as for residential development and limit retail and commercial 

service uses. Staff observe that wineries and wine attendant businesses typically involve retail and 

commercial service uses, therefore the Planning Commission can find that the Commercial zone is more 

encouraging of wineries and wine attendant businesses and better satisfies this policy than the existing 

Commercial Residential zone. This policy is satisfied. 

5. The City shall ensure necessary public services are available, are of sufficient capacity and

adequately maintained to provide for growth and development of identified commercial and

industrial property.

Findings: As previously discussed, the application does not involve physical development at this time. The 

City Engineer submitted comments on the application indicating that public services are available to serve 

13



ZC 2023-06 Staff Report Page 6 of 8 

the site but the adequacy of public services for serving future development will be evaluated through Site 

Development Review. That review will result in conditions of approval requiring public facilities to be 

provided or upgraded where they are found to be insufficient to support the development. Staff also 

observes that the similarity between the allowed uses in the existing Commercial Residential and the 

requested Commercial district, in the absence of any specific development proposed, support the conclusion 

that necessary services are available to serve uses permitted in the Commercial zone. The proposal is 

consistent with this policy. 

6. Development shall be controlled in such a way that the maximum utilization of public utilities

can be achieved.

Findings: As previously discussed, the application does not involve physical development at this time and 

new development will be evaluated through Site Development Review. That review will result in conditions 

of approval requiring public facilities to be provided or upgraded where they are found to be insufficient to 

support the development. Therefore, through the Site Development Review Process, the proposal can be 

found to be consistent with this policy. 

7. Commercial development shall take into consideration traffic safety and compatibility with

respect to Ferry Street, Highway 18 and Highway 221. The City shall confer with the Oregon

Department of Transportation regarding development along or near these streets.

Findings: Commercial development within the subject area shall take into consideration traffic safety and 

compatibility with respect to Ferry Street, Highway 18 and Highway 221 through Site Development 

Review. The application does not involve changing the Commercial land use designation of the property, 

therefore the proposal does not affect this policy. 

8. The City shall promote the continued function and preservation of the central business district

as the primary retail center of the community. This general policy statement shall be supported by

the following policies:

▪ The City shall designate Commercial zoned land located south of Church Street, east of

fifth Street, north of Alder Street and west of Second Street as the Central Business District

(CBD).

▪ Competing commercial activity outside the CBD, especially linear “strip” commercial

development, shall be discouraged.

▪ Downtown development and redevelopment, renovation of existing structures, and

preservation of historic structures in the CBD shall be encouraged.

▪ High quality development in the CBD shall be encouraged through separate design

standards and the design review process.

Findings: The City recently implemented new design standards in the CBO district consistent with this 

policy. Those standards will apply to the rezoned properties as they do now. As previously discussed, the 

purpose of the Commercial Residential district prioritizes residential development over retail and 

commercial uses. Therefore, application of the Commercial zone to this property better satisfies the policy 

than existing Commercial Residential zone.  

B. The uses permitted in the proposed zone can be accommodated on the proposed site without

exceeding its physical capacity.

Findings: Future commercial uses within the requested Commercial zone will be reviewed as part of future 

Site Development Review applications to, in part, ensure that permitted uses can be accommodated on the 

property without exceeding its physical capacity. This criterion can be met. 

C. Allowed uses in the proposed zone can be established in compliance with the development

requirements in this Code.

14



ZC 2023-06 Staff Report Page 7 of 8 

Findings: Future commercial uses within the requested Commercial zone will be reviewed for compliance 

with the development requirements of the code as part of future Site Development Review. This criterion 

can be met. 

D. Adequate public facilities, services, and transportation networks are in place or are planned to be

provided concurrently with the development of the property.

Findings: The applicant is not proposing development as part of this application. Therefore, staff is relying 

on historic information to determine the adequacy of public facilities to serve potential future development 

in the requested Commercial district. As previously discussed, the public facilities serving the site were 

originally planned and sited to serve the Commercial district before the Commercial Residential zone was 

enacted and applied to the properties. Further, the use standards in the Commercial Residential zone allow 

all commercial uses not otherwise permitted in the Commercial Residential with a Conditional Use permit. 

Therefore, because of the similarly in the uses and intensity of uses allowed in the requested Commercial 

zone when compared to the uses allowed in the existing Commercial Residential zone, staff finds that public 

facilities are adequate to serve future commercial use. The comments submitted from the City Engineer on 

the application stated that there does not appear to be any issues with streets or utilities that would preclude 

the zone change. Finally, development within the Commercial zone requires Site Development Review. 

Therefore, the adequacy of public facilities, services, and transportation networks will be evaluated in the 

course of that review to ensure that any needed facilities are provided concurrently with development of 

the property when it is proposed. This criterion can be met. 

E. For residential zone changes, the criteria listed in the purpose statement for the proposed zone

shall be met.

Findings: The proposal does not involve a residential zone change. This criterion does not apply. 

7.3.111.04 Zone Change Conditions 

A. Imposition of Conditions. Approval of a zone change application may be conditioned to require

provisions for buffering or provision of off-site public facilities. In order to impose conditions on a

zone change, findings must be adopted showing that:

1. The zone change will allow uses more intensive than allowed in the current zone; and

2. The conditions are reasonably related to impacts caused by development allowed in the proposed

zone or to impacts caused by the specific development proposed on the subject property; and

3. Conditions will serve a public purpose such as mitigating the negative impacts of allowed uses

on adjacent properties; and

Findings: As previously discussed, the existing Commercial Residential zone allows for similar range and 

intensity of uses as are allowed in the requested Commercial zone. The residential use currently allowed in 

the Commercial Residential zone will no longer be permitted outright in the Commercial zone. Staff has 

observed that the area was originally zoned Commercial before the Commercial Residential zone was 

applied. The City Engineer has verified that public services are in place to serve future development. The 

adequacy of public facilities, services, and transportation networks will be evaluated as part of future Site 

Development Review. Comments from the City Engineer also describe the improvements the Applicant 

should anticipate providing as a condition of future development. Additional conditions of approval 

addressing Criteria 1-3 above are not warranted for this decision but should be anticipated with future 

development. 

B. Conditions. Conditions that could meet the criteria in A., include, but are not limited to:

1. Dedication of right-of-way for public streets, utility easements, etc.; including additional right-

of-way consistent with the requirements of an approved Transportation Plan.

15



ZC 2023-06 Staff Report Page 8 of 8 

2. Improvement of private roadways or public streets, including bike paths, curbs, and sidewalks.

3. Provision of storm drainage facilities.

4. Extension of public sewer, storm drain, and water service including over-sizing to permit

development on other lands.

5. Provision of fire suppression facilities and equipment.

6. Provision of transit and traffic control facilities.

7. Special building setbacks, orientation, landscaping, fencing, berming, and retention of natural

vegetation.

8. Special locations for truck loading, parking, access routes, or any outdoor activity that could

impact adjacent property.

9. Financial contributions to public agencies to offset increased costs for providing services or

facilities related to the intensification of the use of the property.

Findings: As previously discussed, the application does not include physical development. Therefore, there 

is no nexus to require these conditions as part of this application. Comments from the City Engineer describe 

the improvements the Applicant should anticipate providing as a condition of future development. 

Conditions for the purposes described in Sections B. 1 through 9 are not warranted at this time. 

V. CONCLUSION

The application satisfies the approval criteria for a Zone Change under DLUDC 7.3.111.03. 

VI. PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION – Sample Motion

A Planning Commissioner may make a motion to either: 

1. Adopt the staff report and recommend the City Council approve the Zone Change. A

sample motion is:

I move the Planning Commission adopt the staff report and recommend the City Council

approve the Zone Change.

2. Adopt a revised staff report with changes by the Planning Commission and recommend the

City Council approve the revised amendments. A sample motion is:

I move the Planning Commission adopt a revised staff report with the following

revisions…state the revisions…and recommend the City Council approve the revised

amendments.

3. Recommend the City Council deny the proposed amendments. A sample motion is:

I move the Planning Commission recommend the City Council deny the proposed

amendments for the following reasons…and state the reasons for the denial.

‘ 4. Continue the hearing to a date/time certain. A sample motion is:

I move the Planning Commission to continue the hearing to a date (state the date) and time

(state the time) to obtain additional information and state the information to be obtained.

16



To be added to 

Commercial District 

Co

EXHIBIT A

17



Twin Towers, LLC 
7401 SW Washo Ct.  Suite 200 
TualaƟn, OR  97062 

December 1, 2023 

City of Dayton, Planning 
PO Box 339 
Dayton, OR  97114 

Re:  ApplicaƟon for Zone Change 

Twin Towers LLC is proposing a zoning change for 3 properƟes currently zoned Commercial ResidenƟal 
(CR).  We request that the zone be changed to a Commercial (C) zone, for purposes of developing a 
greater amount and type of commercial spaces in Dayton’s downtown core.  These three properƟes 
directly abut Courthouse Square Park and will allow for an increase in commercial space available in the 
area that is best set up for such development. 

The proposed zone will allow for development of a future hotel.  A development of this type complies 
with requirements in the Code and is consistent with the Dayton Comprehensive Plan land use 
classificaƟon.  

We understand that Dayton currently has adequate public faciliƟes and services to support addiƟonal 
commercial capacity in the downtown core.  We do not anƟcipate an addiƟonal Commercial (C) zone 
exceeding demand.   

The zone change proposed will allow for conƟnuity in meeƟng land use and code requirements in the 
future development of the properƟes idenƟfied in this applicaƟon.  However, Twin Towers LLC is not 
proposing a formal development plan at this Ɵme.  This will be proposed at a later date and subject to 
review for adequate public faciliƟes, services and transportaƟon networks in advance of development 
commencing.    

Sincerely, 

Wayne Marschall 
Manager 
Twin Towers, LLC 

EXHIBIT B

18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



This summarizes missing information requested January 2, 2024, from a Zone Change application filed 
December 1, 2023.    

1. Clarify the number of adjacent parcels included in the Zone Change application:

We are reques�ng a Zoning Change from Commercial Residen�al to Commercial for the 
following tax lots: 

• TL 4317DA 03101
• TL 4217DA 03000

In addi�on to these two tax lots, Twin Towers requests a change for TL 4317DA 03200 as it 
currently falls within the Commercial Residen�al Zone.  However, the Zone Consolida�on 
applica�on, dated December 1, 2023, will consolidate it with tax lots TL 4317DA 03300, 03400, 
and 03500 which fall within the Commercial Zone.  As a result of the consolida�on, our request 
is for three (3) tax lots. 

2.a. Complete responses to the Zone Change approval criteria.

7.3.111.03.A. The proposed zone is appropriate for the Comprehensive Plan land use designation 
on the property and is consistent with the description and policies for the applicable 
Comprehensive Plan land use classification.  

Twin Towers desires to change from Commercial Residen�al to Commercial because of the 
flexibility allowed in commercial zone development.  A high-quality development aligns with the 
policies found in Sec�on 8.5 of the Dayton Comprehensive Plan.  The focus will be on hospitality-
based concepts including a flagship hotel.  This will accomplish Dayton objec�ves, including but 
not limited to amplifying the central business district as the primary retail center of the of the 
community, provide a focal point for both residents and visitors and increase employment 
opportuni�es within the City’s downtown.  As a hotel of this scale does not yet exist in the City 
of Dayton, it will diversify and improve the City’s economy. 

7.3.111.03.B. The uses permitted in the proposed zone can be accommodated on the proposed 
site without exceeding its physical capacity.  

Development plans are currently in conceptual phase.  Since the permited uses in both 
Commercial Residen�al and Commercial zones are similar, changing the parcels to a Commercial 
zone will result in no greater impact to the physical capacity of the site than the uses currently 
allowed in the Commercial Residen�al zone.  

7.3.111.03.C. Allowed uses in the proposed zone can be established in compliance with the 
development requirements in this Code.  

There are condi�onal uses and exclusions within the Commercial Residen�al zone that would 
limit Twin Towers’ ability to build a hotel with appropriate func�ons to atract high-quality retail 
operators and enhance the downtown core.  For example, if the parcels remain designated as 
Commercial Residen�al, a wine tas�ng room that retails wine would be a condi�onal use, or a 
roo�op bar would be excluded per the code.  It would also require the project to apply for a 
Condi�onal Use Permit, which is not desired. 

51



7.3.111.03.D. Adequate public facilities, services, and transportation networks are in place or are 
planned to be provided concurrently with the development of the property.  

Twin Towers will work with the City Engineer to address poten�al capacity issues.  Some of those 
poten�al issues that have been iden�fied include:   

• Water and sewer system improvements which conform with city standards as applicable.
• Sewer system improvements that conform with city standards as applicable.
• Storm drainage which conforms to city standards as well as limi�ng storm runoff.
• Off-street and pedestrian improvements.

2.b. Further, a Zone Change is not needed to increase the commercial space available in the Dayton’s
downtown core, nor is it required to develop a hotel. Section 7.2.105.04 lists the Conditional Uses that
are allowed in the Commercial Residential zone which includes commercial activities which do not
comply with the provisions of 7.2.105.02.B.

Understood.  We respec�ully request a Zone Change to prevent the future need for a condi�onal 
use permit for the use of a hotel on these tax lots.   

When the City adopted the Commercial Residen�al zone in 2003, it acknowledged in the Exhibit 
“A” Findings report that the change would allow for single family residences to remain 
conforming as part of the development code.  As implied from the report, the crea�on of the 
Commercial Residen�al zone was to allow for residen�al sites adjacent to the commercial core 
the opportunity to develop commercially.  The findings, while not limited to, place emphasis on 
the allowance of a home to be converted to commercial use and not on new construc�on within 
the zone.   

The report says that the change to Commercial Residen�al will “provide greater flexibility for 
current property owners” (VI.B).  This same benefit does not apply to the tax lots that we are 
reques�ng the change for as we do not plan to keep the exis�ng residen�al buildings in place as 
part of our plan.  Nor is the intended use of a hotel a permited use within Commercial 
Residen�al as it is only condi�onal. 

The report also acknowledges that the "CR zone is somewhat more restric�ve than the 
Commercial zone" (V.D.)  We hope to remove these addi�onal restric�ons to our project with 
the rezoning of the tax lots. 

52



1

Curt Fisher

From: Denny Muchmore <dmuchmore@westech-eng.com>
Sent: Monday, December 18, 2023 7:40 PM
To: Curt Fisher; John Lindow, Dayton PW (jlindow@DaytonOregon.gov); Don Cutler, Dayton 

PW (dcutler@daytonoregon.gov)
Cc: Rochelle Roaden, Dayton (rroaden@daytonoregon.gov)
Subject: Zone Change Application, Ferry 2nd-3rd, Land Use Application Review Comments & 

Proposed/Suggested 
Attachments: Utility map excerpts, 3rd & Ferry ZC-PLA.pdf; Zone change limits, 3rd & Ferry.pdf

External: Please report suspicious email to 
security@wesd.org 
John, Don & Curt, 
We assume you will forward the informaƟon below to other City staff as applicable, once you have reviewed it and 
added any addiƟonal comments you may have.  

At the zone change stage, our review is typically limited to verificaƟon as to whether the zone change will allow for the 
orderly extension of urban services (ie. verificaƟon as to whether adequate faciliƟes either exist or can be provided in 
conjuncƟon with development). Overall, there does not appear to be any issues from a street or uƟlity viewpoint that 
would preclude the zone change of this property.  

If the Planning staff, Planning Commission or City Council wishes to impose condiƟons of approval, or address variances 
based on informaƟon that we may not be aware of, we assume that this will be coordinated with Public Works as part of 
the land use process.  

Background InformaƟon. 
The property proposed for zone change is generally located along Ferry Street between 2nd & 3rd Street (both sides of the 
street).  

Excerpts from the City uƟlity maps are aƩached for reference. These maps show the approximate locaƟon and layout of 
the surrounding properƟes and uƟliƟes.  

The proposed zone change consists the following eight (8) tax lots. 
o TL 4317DA-03000 (201 Ferry Street).
o TL 4317DA-03101 (205 Ferry Street).
o TL 4317DA-03200 (no address).
o TL 4317DA-03300 (no address).
o TL 4317DA-03400 (no address).
o TL 4317DA-03500 (no address).
o TL 4317DA-05800 (202 Ferry Street).
o TL 4317DA-05900 (204-210 Ferry Street).

A tentaƟve development layout was not submiƩed for reference on how the applicant anƟcipates the property might be 
developed following zone change.  

ExisƟng Plats, Easements, etc.  
Our maps show that this property is included within the plat for the original town of Dayton. 
• Title Report.

EXHIBIT C

53



2

o While title reports were provided with the zone change application, copies of the recorded easements
referenced in those title reports were not provided. As such, we were not able to determine how the existing
easements on or to the benefit of these properties which might affect future development.

o We suggest that the City require a current title report and copies of all referenced documents be submitted in
conjunction with any development application.

Previous Land Use Approvals. 
We are not aware of any previous land use approvals relaƟng to this property (at least during our tenure). 

Streets & UƟliƟes. 
Since street & uƟlity improvements are typically not included as condiƟons to an zone change approval, the following 
are general informaƟonal comments only (ie. to illustrate how it is currently anƟcipated that the exisƟng infrastructure 
will need to be upgraded and/or extended to provide service to this property).  

All streets required to fronƟng on, or which provide access to and through this property will need to be improved to City 
standards at the Ɵme of development.  

• Streets –
o Currently, the streets fronting this property include 3rd Street, Ferry Street and 2nd Street.
o The developer should anticipate that a certain level of improvements to the existing 3rd Street (ie. widening with

new curbs & sidewalks) and to the existing 2nd Street (full street & sidewalk improvements) will be required in
conjunction with future development.
 While the exact extent of these improvements will not be known until a development application is

submitted, it is anticipated that full street improvements will likely be required to 2nd Street between Ferry
& Main Street in order to provide safe access to and from this property from the surrounding street grid.
Pedestrian access will be required from the site to 3rd Street, Ferry Street and 2nd Street, and a pedestrian
crossing at 2nd & Ferry will also likely be required in conjunction with the future development.

In summary, it appears that adequate vehicular and pedestrian access can be constructed to provide service to this zone 
change property, although it appears that it will require some offsite street and/or pedestrian improvements.  

• Water - It appears that waterline improvements will need to be provided along 2nd Street in order to provide a
looped system around this block to provide reliable fire flows to the site.
o At the time of development of the zone change property, the developer will be responsible to provide water

system improvements which conform with City standards as applicable.

• Sewer –It appears that the existing sewer along the alley can be upgraded to provide gravity sewer service capacity
for the site, although offsite improvements downstream toward 1st Street may be required depending on the
condition of the downstream sewers (which condition will need to be verified in conjunction with the design for the
future development).
o At the time of development of the zone change property, the developer will be responsible to provide sewer

system improvements which conform with City standards as applicable.

• Storm – Storm drainage improvements will be required in conjunction with future development in order to provide
for drainage along Ferry Street down to the new storm improvements currently being constructed at 1st & Ferry. The 
property slopes generally toward the south toward Ferry Street.
o With any development, the developer will be responsible to develop a storm drainage system which conforms

with City standards as applicable.
o Detention may be required with the future development of this property, to limit storm runoff to existing

conditions, unless adequate capacity is provided by the new storm drainage improvements.

If you have any questions or need additional information regarding this review, please contact us to discuss. 

54



3

Denny Muchmore, PE (OR, WA) 
Westech Engineering, Inc., 3841 Fairview Industrial Drive SE, Suite 100, Salem, OR 97302 
503-585-2474 ph 503-585-3986 fax 503-931-8708 cell

dmuchmore@westech-eng.com Celebrating 55 Years of Service 1968 - 2023 

55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



EXHIBIT D

71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



To: Curt Fisher, Rochelle Roaden, Melissa Ahrens 

From: Jesse Winterowd, AICP, PMP, Grace Coffey AICP 

Date: March 7, 2024 

Re: Dayton Housing Element Roadmap and Middle Housing Work 
Program Tasks and Schedule 

The following is a proposed project schedule for the Dayton Housing Element Roadmap 
and Middle Housing Work Program with the City of Dayton, organized by tasks and 
subtasks, subtasks contain project deliverables. This memorandum provides the 
Winterbrook deliverable for Task 1.  

Task 1: Project Kick-Off and Management April 2024 
Winterbrook Hold Kick Off Meeting and schedule regular monthly meetings. 

Prepare project schedule including summary of major tasks and 
action items for project.  

Deliverables: Summary of major tasks and action items for the 
Project; and Proposed Project schedule 

March 2024 

MIG Prepare Community Engagement Plan, Participate in Kickoff Meeting 
Deliverables: 

• Draft and Final Community Engagement Plan
• Participation in Kickoff Meeting

April 2024 

City Schedule and participate in Kickoff Meeting 
Deliverables: 

• List of potential community stakeholders
• Summary of results of any previous related community

engagement efforts

April 2024 

Meetings • Kick off Meeting (City, Winterbrook, MIG)
• Regular monthly check in meetings (City, Winterbrook)

Task 2: Residential Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI) March-May 2024 
Winterbrook Residential Buildable Land Inventory 

Deliverables: 
• Memorandum presenting the residential BLI
• Presentation Materials
• Maps, and GIS shapefiles

March-April 2024 

Meetings Present results to Project Advisory Committee (PAC) at PAC Meeting 
1 (Winterbrook) 

79



Task 3: Housing Engagement and Education April-September 
2024 

Winterbrook Attend stakeholder meetings, prepare summary of housing 
engagement results.  
Deliverables: 

• Outline of suggested questions and topics for engagement
with housing consumers and producers.

• Residential designation policy interpretation of existing
comprehensive plan. Contextualized summary of
engagement and housing policies.

April-September 
2024 

MIG Engagement: Review and comment on a list of potential stakeholder 
interview participants. Prepare interview questionnaires or 
discussion guides for review by other project team members; update 
materials to address resulting comments. Prepare an overall 
summary of meeting results based on notes provided by City staff 
and Housing Consultant team members. 
Deliverables: 

•Meeting to discuss stakeholder meeting participants and
discussion topics

•Draft and Final Stakeholder Meeting Discussion Guide or
Questionnaire

•Stakeholder Meetings Overall Summary of Results

May-September 
2024 

Develop an Online Story Map 
Deliverables: 

•StoryMap Initial Content
•StoryMap Update #1
•StoryMap Update #2
•StoryMap Update #3

May-July 2024 

Community Meeting: 
Meet with City staff and the Housing Consultant to discuss and 
agree on the meeting objectives, format and promotion. Prepare a 
meeting flyer and text for email and Website announcements or 
other promotional efforts to be undertaken by City staff. Assist in 
preparing presentation materials using information provided by the 
Housing Consultant. Attend the meeting; one MIG staff member will 
attend to support City staff and the Housing Consultant’s 
participating team members.  Prepare a meeting summary.  
Deliverables: 

•Community Meeting Plan and Presentation Materials
•Community Meeting Participation and Summary

July-September 
2024 

City Deliverables 
• Participation in meetings to plan for engagement activities
• Stakeholder interview logistical support and staffing, as

needed
• Incorporate links to and announcements for engagement

materials and activities in the City’s Website
• Logistical arrangements and staffing of Community Meeting

May-September 
2024 

80



• Review and comments on all engagement materials and
summaries

• Meeting notice and agenda.

Meetings • Up to 6 one-on-one or small group meetings with stakeholder
groups. (City, Winterbrook)

• Present summary of engagement and housing policies to PAC
at PAC Meeting 2 (MIG, Winterbrook, City)

• Public Open House or Meeting to present middle housing data,
findings and recommendations. (MIG, Winterbrook, City)

Task 4: Comprehensive Plan Housing Audit and Roadmap May -September 
2024 

Winterbrook  Prepare a housing chapter roadmap containing actions necessary 
for Dayton to update the housing element of the comprehensive 
plan, how other elements of the plan interact with the housing 
element, and recommendations on how to structure the 
comprehensive plan to simplify future updates. 

Deliverables: 
• A recommendation report summarizing findings,

recommended changes to City’s comprehensive plan and
land use regulations to address housing and residential land
needs.

• Presentation materials to explain findings and
recommendations at a public meeting.

May-August 2024 

City Deliverables: 
• Public meeting notice(s)

August-October 
2024 

Meetings • Present recommendation report to PAC at PAC Meeting 3
(Winterbrook, City)

• Public meeting to present the findings and recommendations
(Winterbrook, City).

Meetings Schedule and Summary: 
In addition to regular check in meetings or internal meetings as necessary, the following schedule 
is proposed:  

Kickoff Meeting March 
PAC Meeting 1 (Winterbrook presents BLI) April 
Up to 6 stakeholder meetings (Conducted by Winterbrook, City) May-August 
PAC Meeting 2 (MIG presents summary of engagement and middle housing 
policies) 

October 

PAC Meeting 3 (Winterbrook presents Comp Plan Housing Roadmap) October 
Public Open House or Meeting (MIG, Winterbrook, City present middle housing 
data, findings, and recommendations) 

November 

81


	03-14-24 PC Agenda
	03-14-24 PC Packet
	11-9-2023 PC Minutes
	12-14-2023 PC Minutes
	ZC 23-06 PC SR
	Tasks and Action Items, Project Schedule with Engagement Tasks




